### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

The Florida Bar, Complainant

Case No. 78, 590 (TFB Case No. 91-30,857 (18C)

٧.

Lane W. Vaughn, Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 1 \1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF
RESPONDENT
IN SUPPORT OF PETITION
FOR REVIEW

By: Patricia J. Brown
Attorney for Respondent
300 Colorado Avenue
Suite 203, Dehon Building
Stuart, Florida 34994

(407) 221-9221) Florida Bar # 315990

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose out of Respondent's representation of a client, Mitchell Eric Miller in a criminal matter in approximately August, 1990. The complaint was initially forwarded to Grievance Committee 18 (C) which found probable cause for further proceedings and a formal complaint was filed by Bar Counsel. After a hearing on November 15, 1991, the Referee found Respondent not guilty on all of the Bar's charges, however found him guilty of a separate offense not alleged in the Bar's complaint; that of failure to cooperate with The Florida Bar in its investigation and subsequent processing of the disciplinary case.

It is this aspect of the referee's report that Respondent seeks to have reviewed by this court, as well as the recommendation that Respondent be suspended from practice for thirty (30) days and be required to pay the costs of the disciplinary proceedings.

#### ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER A THIRTY (30) DAY SUSPENSION AND PAYMENT OF COSTS IS JUSTIFIED FOR ALLEGED FAILURE TO COOPERATE WITH THE FLORIDA BAR IN A CASE WHERE THE RESPONDENT ATTORNEY WAS FOUND NOT GUILTY OF ALL SUBSTANTIVE CHARGES AGAINST HIM.

#### ARGUMENT

A THIRTY (30) DAY SUSPENSION AND PAYMENT OF COSTS IS NOT JUSTIFIED IN A CASE WHERE A RESPONDENT ATTORNEY IS FOUND NOT GUILTY OF ALL CHARGES BROUGHT BY THE FLORIDA BAR.

In the complaint filed by The Florida Bar against respondent, it was alleged that he had violated Rule of Professional Conduct 3-4.3, engaging in conduct that is contrary to honesty and justice; Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.3, failing to act with reasonable diligence in representing his client; and Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.4(a), failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and for failing to comply with reasonable requests for information.

Following the evidentiary hearing which was conducted on November 15, 1991, the Referee made the determination that Respondent was not guilty of any of the above referenced violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct. (Rpt.par.III) He did however, of his own volition, assert against Respondent a violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.1(b), and in addition, determined that Respondent was guilty of violating

said rule. The Referee cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Stillman</u>, 401 So. 2d. 1306 (Fla. 1981) as authority for this finding.

The Referee cites Respondent's failure to respond to the Bar's request for a reply to the complaining party, his failure to attend the grievance committee hearing and his failure to appear in person for the Referee hearing.

Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.1(b) states that a lawyer in connection with a disciplinary matter, shall not knowingly fail to respond to a lawful demand for information from a disciplinary authority. This violation, however, was not raised in the complaint filed by the Bar.

Stillman, id., at 1307 clearly does give the referee the authority to include in his report, information not squarely within the scope of the Bar's accusations. It does not appear, however to grant the referee the authority to recommend such a harsh discipline.

In a series of cases involving respondent attorneys, this court has approved the concept of admonishing the attorney for his or her failure to cooperate with some aspect of the Bar's investigation, or disciplinary process. The distinguishing feature in each of those cases, however, is that the attorney was found guilty of some for all of the charges alleged in the Bar's complaint. A more appropriate use of the respondent's failure to cooperate with the Bar is to evaluate the actions as an aggravating factor, if the respondent is found guilty of the substantive charges. The Florida Bar v. Tato, 435 So. 2d. 807 (Fla.1983).

In <u>Tato</u>, the Respondent was guilty of accepting a fee, performing little **or** no work for clients, willfully ignoring client's requests for accountings or refunds, and <u>as aggravating factors</u> (emphasis supplied) failing to cooperate with The Florida Bar and for being under suspension for nonpayment of Bar dues.

Similarly, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Blaha</u>, 366 So. 2d. 433 (Fla. 1978), the respondent attorney was found to be in violation Of numerous sections of the code of <u>Professional Responsibility</u> and was disbarred for the seriousness of the charges against him. The court, in passing, mentioned <u>Blahas' failure</u> to appear or respond to the Bar's complaint, but considered this not as grounds for discipline in itself, but rather as an aggravating factor.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Bartlett</u>, 509 So.2d. 287 (Fla. 1987) the court acted upon respondent's current disciplinary charges, for which he was found guilty, as well as his past disciplinary record which included two prior suspensions, in ordering disbarment. The fact that respondent had not answered the Bar's complaint was considered only as an aggravating factor.

In another disbarment case, <u>The Florida Bar v. Montgomery</u>, 412 So. 2d..346 (Fla. 1982), the respondent was found guilty of violating numerous disciplinary rules, including specific and general neglect of legal matters entrusted to his as well as abandonment of his practice. The court approved the referee's consideration of the respondent's failure to answer the Bar's complaint as an aggravating factor, along with his failure to pay his Bar dues.

In The Florida Bar v. Fath, 368 So.2d. 357 (Fla. 1979) the respondent was admonished in the referee's report for blatant disregard for the disciplinary proceedings. The respondent was, in addition, found guilty of all of the charges alleged in the Bar's complaint. The recommendend discipline which was a three (3) year suspension was justified based upon the seriousness of the charges, the guilty finding as well as the failure to cooperate with the Bar process.

In none of the cited cases did a referee make a determination that a respondent was not guilty of the charges brought against him by the Bar and then recommend a discipline for failure to cooperate with the Bar investigation. instant case, the referee has charged the respondent with failure to cooperate, has adjudged him guilty of the offense, and has recommended an egregious discipline. According to the factors to be considered in imposing sanctions, pursuant to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system. Assuming arguendo, that respondent's acts constitute a failure to cooperate with the Bar, there was no attending injury or potential injury to a client, to the public or to the legal system. If indeed any discipline is to be imposed, it clearly should be something substantially less severe that requiring an attorney to shut down his practice for a period of thirty (30) days.

The above referenced cases may be distinguished from the instant case in another respect. In each case cited previously the respondent attorney knowingly and willfully failed or refused

to cooperate with the Bar in either its preliminary investigative stages or in the referee level stages of the case. There is ample evidence to indicate that respondent herein had no specific intent to fail or refuse to cooperate with the Bar. Respondent states that he obtained legal advice that it would be in his best interests not to respond in writing to the Bar's initial inquiries. Tr.p90-91. Additionally, although he did not appear in person at the referee hearing, respondent did participate and offer testimony by telephone. Had it been respondent's intent to avoid or stymie the Bar process, he clearly would have consistently been unavailable for any of the proceedings and would not have responded to any matters.

This court, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Lipman</u>, 497 So.2d. 1165 (Fla. 1986) stated that it is improper for a referee in a disciplinary proceeding to base the severity of the recommended punishment on a refusal to admit the alleged misconduct or to show a lack of remourse. Similarly, it is improper for the referee in the case at hand to make a recommended discipline of such a serious and devastating nature to an attorney who is clearly not guilty of any of the original offenses with which he was charged. The referee herein has overstepped the bounds of his discretion and has recommended a punishment which clearly does not match the alleged crime.

#### CONCLUSION

While the referee in a Bar disciplinary matter has the authority to consider factors outside the allegations raised in the Bar's complaint, it is an abuse of discretion on the part of a referee to raise the issue of failure to cooperate, determine that the attorney is guilty, and then recommend an extreme form of discipline such as a suspension and payment of the costs of the proceeding. There is insufficient evidence to indicate that respondent in the case at hand knowingly or willfully failed to cooperate with the disciplinary process. The referee has gone beyond the discretion granted to him by cited case law.

While the knowing refusal or failure to cooperate with the Bar may be considered as an aggravating factor in the case where an attorney is found guilty of the offenses alleged in the Bar's complaint, it is improper for a referee to assert a new and separate charge. Even assuming that the referee wished to admonish the respondent, a thirty (30) day suspension is a harsh and unreasonable form of admonishment.

The respondent, by and through undersigned counsel respectfully requests this court to reject the referee's recommended finding of guilt and his recommended discipline of a thirty (30) day suspension and payment of costs.