017



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 20 1992 CLERK, SURREME COURT By<sub>4</sub> Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 78,590 [TFB Case No. 91-30,857 (18C)

v.

LANE W. VAUGHN,

Respondent.

#### **ANSWER BRIEF**

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No, 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561 - 5600Attorney No. 217395

and

JOHN B. ROOT, JR. The Florida Bar 880 North Orange Avenue Suite 200 Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 425-5424 Attorney No. 068153







####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Bar accepts paragraph one of the statement of the case on **page** one of the respondent's Initial Brief as accurate. However, the Bar submits the following statement as to the facts in this matter,

On July 29, 1991, the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" found probable cause against the respondent for violating Rule of Discipline 3-4.3 for engaging in conduct contrary to honesty and justice and the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; and 4-1, 4(a)for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. The respondent, properly and timely noticed of the hearing, failed to appear in his own defense. On September 9, 1991, the Bar filed its formal Complaint which was served on the respondent by certified mail to his record Bar address. On September 30, 1991, the Bar served its Requests For Admission on The the respondent by certified mail to his record Bar address. respondent did not timely respond to the Bar's Requests. On November 1, 1991, the Referee, the Honorable Lawrence J. Davis, The held a pre-trial conference with the Bar and the respondent. respondent attended by telephone. The Referee gave the respondent an additional five days to respond to the Bar's

-1-

Requests For Admission. The Bar received the respondent's response to the Requests For Admission on November 7, 1991.

The final hearing was held on November 15, 1991. Although the respondent was personally advised of the time, date and place of the final hearing by the Referee at the pre-trial conference just two weeks earlier and he was duly noticed of the final hearing date and time in writing, the respondent failed to appear at the final hearing until the Referee personally contacted him by telephone after which time the respondent attended the final hearing by telephone. The Referee submitted his report on January 30, 1992. However, the Referee had inadvertently described one of the respondent's past discipline cases incorrectly. Therefore, the Referee submitted an amended report on February 24, 1992, to include the correct description of the respondent's past disciplinary case. On March 24, 1992, the respondent submitted his Petition For Review seeking a review of paragraphs three, four and six of the Referee's report. On April 30, 1992, the respondent submitted his Initial Brief. This Brief is in answer to the respondent's Initial Brief.

-2-

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent argues in his Initial Brief that the Referee should not have found him guilty of violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.1(b) concerning his failure to respond to the Bar in a disciplinary action. He claims that he did participate in the disciplinary proceedings against him and if, in fact, the Referee believed that the respondent had not properly responded to the Bar, the Referee should not have imposed such a harsh discipline, particularly because he was found not guilty of all the other charges the Bar brought against him.

It is the Bar's position that the respondent failed to timely respond to the Bar despite proper notice of the proceedings and the charges against him. The respondent's reasons for not participating throughout these proceedings are not sufficient to excuse his misconduct. The Referee properly used his discretion under <u>The Florida Bar v. Stillman</u>, 401 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981) in recommending that the respondent be found guilty of violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.1(b) and, based upon the respondent's past disciplinary history, a thirty day suspension is the appropriate discipline in this case.

-3-

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 4-8.1(b) WAS APPROPRIATE GIVEN THE EVIDENCE OF THE RESPONDENT'S LACK OF COOPERATION AND/OR PARTICIPATION IN THE BAR PROCEEDINGS.

At the final hearing on November 15, 1991, the Referee found the respondent not guilty of all of the charges brought against him by the Bar but found him guilty of violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.1(b) which states, in pertinent part, that "a lawyer in connection with a bar admission application or <u>in connection with a disciplinary matter</u> shall not: (b)... fail to respond to a lawful demand for information from an admissions <u>or disciplinary authority</u>..." (Emphasis added). Although Rule 4-8.1(b) was not specifically charged in the Bar's Complaint, the Referee found that paragraph six of the Complaint put the respondent on notice that the charge of failing to respond to the Bar would be presented at the final hearing. (RR p. 5). Further, the Referee could include findings not charged in the Bar's complaint under the authority of <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Stillman, 401 \$0.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981).

In his Initial Brief, the respondent appears to concede that the Referee did have the authority to include findings in his report that were not specifically charged in the Bar's formal complaint pursuant to Stillman. (RB p. 3). However, the

-4-

respondent also asserts "there is ample evidence to indicate that the respondent herein had no specific intent to fail or refuse to cooperate with the Bar." (RB p. 6). The Bar respectfully disagrees with that assertion. During the final hearing and in his Initial Brief, the respondent made statements that other attorneys had advised him not to respond in writing to the Bar. (Tp. 41-42, 90-91; RB p. 6). The respondent did not reply to the Bar's initial requests, either in writing or verbally, that he respond to the complainant's allegations and he did not advise the Bar that he was taking the advice of these "other attorneys" until the final hearing. Further, the respondent has provided no testimony and/or other evidence that these attorneys actually gave him that advice. Assuming such advice was actually given, it appears clear by his own testimony that the respondent deliberately and intentionally failed to respond to the Bar's inquiries.

The respondent also failed to attend the grievance committee hearing on this mattes. The respondent claims he was in a trial in Tampa and he never received the notice of the grievance committee hearing. Pursuant to Rule of Discipline 3-7.11(b), service of pleadings and documents to the attorney's last record **Bar** address is sufficient notice **and** service. The respondent tried to excuse his failure to attend the grievance committee hearing because the notice was sent to his father's law office, but that office **also was** his (respondent's) record Bar address. His father's secretary signed the post office receipt in a timely

- 5 -

manner on June 13, 1991, and the grievance committee hearing was not until July 29, 1991. (T. p. 43, Bar Ex. 3). Although the respondent claims his father's secretary did not work for the respondent, (T p. 41-43, 57-59), the Bar contends, and the Referee so found, that the respondent's excuses regarding his father's secretary are irrelevant given that there was proper service by certified mail on the respondent pursuant to Rule 3-7.11(b). (RR p.4, para. 27).

The respondent failed to timely respond to the Bar's Requests for Admission. At the pre-trial conference on November 1, 1991, the Referee gave the respondent an additional five days to respond to the Requests. Although the respondent did submit his responses within the five days, it is questionable whether he would have submitted them at all had the Referee not specifically told him to respond and given him the additional time to do **so**.

At the final hearing the respondent was not present before the Referee at the appointed time. This, the Bar submits, is a clear example of the respondent's lack of concern during these disciplinary proceedings. The respondent was timely noticed of the final hearing date pursuant to Rule 3-7.11(b) and he was specifically advised of the final hearing date and time by the Referee at the pre-trial conference two weeks prior to the final hearing. The Referee even moved the hearing time from 9:00 a.m. to 9:30 a.m. for the respondent's convenience for his traveling purposes. (PT p. 6). The respondent was not present before the

-6-

Referee until the Referee telephoned **the** respondent **at his** home. During the final hearing, the Referee found that the respondent had been duly noticed and had been advised of the date and time **for** the hearing at the pre-trial conference and therefore, he was going to conduct the final hearing by telephone. Again, the respondent would not have even participated at the final hearing had the Referee not contacted **him** at home by telephone.

In this matter the respondent has shown a continuing pattern of not cooperating or participating in the disciplinary proceedings. At times the respondent's failure to respond to the Bar was intentional and at other times the respondent demonstrated a willful lack of concern as to these matters. The Bar submits that under these circumstances, it was appropriate for the Referee to find the respondent guilty of violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.1(b).

#### ISSUE II

#### THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A THIRTY DAYS SUSPENSION WAS WARRANTED EVEN THOUGH THE REFEREE FOUND THE RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY OF ALL OF THE OTHER CHARGES AND BASED UPON HIS PAST DISCIPLINARY HISTORY.

In his report, the Referee recommended the respondent receive a thirty day suspension for violating Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8,1(b). His guilt of that offense is clear. The respondent argues, however, that this is too harsh a discipline given the fact that the Referee found him not guilty

-7-

of all of the other charges the Bar brought against him. The respondent further argues that in past Bar disciplinary cases the fact that an attorney failed to cooperate with the Bar was used in recommending an aggravated discipline after the attorney had already been found guilty of other violations of the Rules. The respondent cites numerous cases in support of his thesis that a recommended finding of quilt of Rule 4-8,1(b) is not justified because the Referee recommended a finding of not guilty on the other offenses alleged in the complaint. He states that "the distinguishing feature in each of those cases, however, is that the attorney was found guilty of some or all of the charges alleged in the Bar's complaint". (RB p. 3). He fails to point out, however, that every single case he cites is clearly and unalterably distinguishable from the case at bar: each case cited by him in his brief was tried by Rules in effect prior to January 1, 1987, the effective date of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. There was no counterpart to Rule 4-8.1(b) in existence. This may well be the reason the Referees in those cases, and this Honorable Court, only used the lack of cooperation as aggravation rather than as a separate offense. It is true that this situation is one of first impression in Bar disciplinary cases in Florida. However, there is substantial precedent for the Bar's position to be found, in that other state Bar disciplinary authorities have disciplined attorneys for failing to cooperate in the disciplinary process.

-8-

In Louisiana State Bar Association v. Tucker, 560 So.2d 435 (La. 1989), the Committee on Professional Responsibility instituted disciplinary proceedings against Tucker in four cases of mishandling of fees and/or client funds. Tucker failed to respond to the committee's letters during the investigation of the complaints and he failed to attend some of the hearings on the matters. The Commissioner found Tucker guilty in two of the cases and also found him guilty of violating Rule 8.4(g) concerning his failure to respond to the committee. Upon a rehearing, the Louisiana Supreme Court found the Bar had not proven the allegations in the remaining cases by clear and convincing evidence and reversed the previous finding of guilt on those charges. However, the court upheld the finding that Tucker was guilty of not responding to the committee in each of the four Cases, The court imposed a public reprimand as discipline on those violations alone.

In a Missouri case, <u>In Re: Stricker</u>, **808** S.W.2d **356** (Mo. banc 1991), a point was made by a Justice on the Missouri Supreme Court which is particularly relevant to the instant matter. Stricker was found guilty in several **cases** of neglect and lack of adequate communication with clients. He was **also** found guilty of failing to cooperate with the committee in one of the cases. The Special Master found Stricker not guilty of the general allegations in that case but found him guilty of violating Rule **4-8.1(b)** for failing to cooperate with the committee in its investigation of that complaint. The Missouri Supreme Court held

-9-

that violations of Rule 4-8.1(b), which reads "failing to disclose a fact necessary to correct **a** misapprehension known by the person to have arisen in the matter," may constitute attorney misconduct warranting sanctions. The court went on to state:

The basis of the misconduct for failing to cooperate does not rest upon the merit of the complaint, <u>rather</u> <u>cooperation with the Committee is expected of all</u> <u>attorneys so that such matters may receive prompt</u> <u>resolution.</u> Had the respondent responded to the letter from the Committee outlining the evidence later presented at the disciplinary hearing, this matter could have been expeditiously dispatched without need for hearing and review by this Court. At **p.** 363. (Emphasis supplied).

This is also true in the present case. Because the Referee found the respondent not quilty of the allegations in the Bar's Complaint it is possible that had the respondent replied to the Bar's inquiries and/or participated in the grievance committee hearings, this matter would have never reached the Referee level. Despite initial investigation by the Bar, material evidence tending to disprove the Bar's charges was not provided to Bar Counsel by the respondent until after the final hearing. (RR The respondent's failure to present any defense at the p.2). early stages of the investigation resulted in the utilization of the Referee's and this Court's time which may have been unnecessary had the Bar been able to obtain important documentation from the respondent at the initial stage of the investigation.

In another Missouri case, In Re: Staab, 719 S.W.2nd 780 (Mo.

banc 1986), the Bar's committee charged Staab with repeatedly failing to cooperate with the Bar's investigation of the complaints against him. The Missouri Court indicated it was joining "a growing majority of states who explicitly entertain as attorney misconduct the failure to cooperate with disciplinary authorities". (At p. 784). The court further stated:

Isolated instances might be inadvertence or simple neglect. However, the well-evidenced repetition of non-cooperation on this record justifies the conclusion that the respondent does not fully understand the profound duty imposed by his profession. The **Bar** committee and its members "giv[e] their time and services to maintain a high standard in the legal profession and [are] entitled to expect at least a courteous response and a prompt cooperation." <u>In Re:</u> <u>Breding</u>, 188 Minn. 367, 368, 247 N.W. 694 (1933). Certainly, this court should expect no less of members of this self-regulating profession if the Court is to maintain the public's confidence and the profession's integrity (At p. 784).

[See also <u>In Re: Vails</u>, **768** \$, W, 2d **78** (Mo, band **1989**) and <u>State Ex Rel. Nebraska State Bar v. Kirshen</u>, **441** N.W, 2d **161** (Neb. **1989**)].

It is apparent that this Court, **as** well as courts of other states, has had little regard for attorneys who fail to participate in the disciplinary proceedings, despite whether or not other rule violations have been found against the attorney. **Referees have also indicated that this failure on the part of** attorneys demonstrates a lack of concern for the proceedings of The Florida Bar which reflects adversely on the attorney's fitness to practice law. This sentiment was evidenced in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Tato</u>, **435 So.2d 807** (Fla. **1983)**, which was **a** disbarment case for neglect. The Referee found, among other things, that the attorney had failed to cooperate with the Bar and failed to attend final hearings. In aggravation the Referee found:

Respondent's conduct in these proceedings indicates that he has as little regard for these proceedings as he does for his clients interests. I find that the respondent's conduct demonstrates a willful disregard for the disciplinary system **as** well **as** the standards of professional conduct under which attorneys must operate. (At p. **808**).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Bartlett</u>, 509 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that "a lawyer's willful refusal to participate at all in the disciplinary process when he is accused of misconduct calls into serious question a lawyer's fitness for the practice of law". (At p. 289). [See also <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Jones, 543 So.2d 751 (Fla. 1989)].

The respondent has been involved in two prior disciplinary cases. In case numbers 86-21,985 (18C), 86-21,092 (18C) and 87-27,597 (18C), the respondent received **a** private reprimand by appearance before the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar for personal checking account violations. In <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Vaughn</u>, 562 \$0.2d 348 (Fla. 1990), the respondent received a public reprimand for engaging in improper personal behavior. (RR **p.6**). The Referee considered the respondent's prior disciplinary history when recommending the discipline to be imposed in this case. Further, this Court considers a respondent's previous

-12-

disciplinary history and increases the discipline where appropriate. <u>The Florida Bar v. Bern</u>, **425** \$0.2d **526** (Fla. 1982). The Bar submits a thirty day suspension is the appropriate discipline based upon the circumstances in this case and considering the respondent's prior disciplinary history. Additionally, the Bar contends that in Standard **7.2** from the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyers Sanctions as cited by the respondent on page five of his Initial Brief, suspension is appropriate in this case. It is the Bar's position that the respondent's failure to cooperate with the Bar violated his duty as a professional which caused injury and disruption to the disciplinary system. Under Standard **7.2** a suspension would be appropriate in this situation.

In conclusion, the Bar asserts that in this matter the point is not that the respondent was found not guilty of the other disciplinary charges against him. The issue is that the respondent's disregard for the disciplinary procedures demonstrates a lack of understanding **as** to his responsibilities as an attorney and a member **of** The Florida Bar. The Referee attempted to correct this problem by recommending the respondent be suspended for thirty days. The Bar submits that **perhaps** by suspending the respondent, he will take greater care to timely respond to the Bar's inquiries should a complaint be filed against him in the future. If **so**, any unnecessary expenditure of time and effort could be avoided by all parties involved in the disciplinary process. The Bar seeks only to proceed with those

-13-

disciplinary matters wherein an attorney has actually violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. It is unfortunate that a disciplinary matter proceeds all the way to the Supreme Court of Florida only because the respondent failed to cooperate with a grievance investigation by The Florida Bar and to provide information which he had in his possession.

### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court approve the Referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt and order the respondent be suspended for a period of thirty days and that he be required to pay the Bar's costs in prosecuting this matter.